

**R277. Education, Administration.**

**R277-726. Statewide Online Education Program.**

**R277-726-1. Authority, Purpose, and Oversight Category.**

(1) This rule is authorized by:

(a) Utah Constitution [Article X, Section 3](#), which vests general control and supervision of public education in the Board;

(b) Section [53F-4-502](#), which created the program to enable eligible students, through publicly funded online courses, to:

(i) earn college credit by July 1, 2025;

(ii) earn high school graduation credit; and

(iii) earn middle school credit;

(c) Section [53F-4-514](#), which requires the Board to make rules:

(i) providing for the administration of the applicable statewide assessments to students enrolled in online courses;

(ii) ~~[that establish]~~ establishing a course credit acknowledgment form and procedures for completing and submitting the form to the Board; and

(iii) ~~[that establish]~~ establishing protocols for an online course provider to obtain approval to become an authorized or certified online course provider; and

(d) Subsection [53E-3-401\(4\)](#), which allows the Board to make rules to execute the Board's duties and responsibilities under the Utah Constitution and state law.

(2) The purpose of this rule is to:

(a) define necessary terms;

(b) provide and describe a program registration agreement; and

(c) provide other requirements for an LEA, the Superintendent, a parent and a student, and an authorized online course provider for program implementation and accountability.

(3) This Rule R277-726 is categorized as Category 4 as described in Rule [R277-111](#).

**R277-726-2. Definitions.**

(1)(a) ~~["Actively participates"]~~ "Active participation" means, for purposes of an initial funding distribution described in Section [53F-4-505](#), ~~[the student actively participates as defined by the provider in a written standard of active participation on record with the Superintendent.]~~ that, during the twenty day period allowed for withdrawal at the beginning of a semester-length course, a student has:

- (i) logged into a course one or more times;
- (ii) submitted one or more grade assignments; and
- (iii) not requested to withdraw.

(2) "Applicable statewide assessments" means:

(a) the high school assessment described in Section [53E-4-304](#) and Subsection [R277-404-2\(7\)](#);

(b) a standards assessment as defined in Section [53E-4-303](#); and

(c) a Utah alternative assessment as defined in Rule [R277-404](#).

(3) "Approved absence" means an absence permitted in accordance with Subsection [53G-6-803\(5\)](#).

(4) "Authorized online course provider" or "provider" means the same as the term is defined in Section [53F-4-501](#).

(5) "Certified online course provider" means the same as the term is defined in Section [53F-4-501](#).

(6) "Course completion" means that a student has completed a course with a passing grade and the provider has transmitted the course title, course code, grade, and credit to the primary LEA of enrollment and the Superintendent.

(7) "Confirm" means that a provider certifies:

(a) that a student has met the criteria outlined in Subsection (1) for active participation; and

(b) that the provider acknowledges an obligation to the Board or a cooperating LEA for related accountability mandates associated with the student and the student's course of instruction.

59           ([7]8) "Course Credit Acknowledgment" or "CCA" means an agreement and  
60 registration record that:

61           (a) uses the Statewide Online Education Program application provided by the  
62 Superintendent; and

63           (b) except as provided in Section [53F-4-508](#), is signed by the designee of the  
64 primary school of enrollment, and the qualified provider.

65           (9) "Day of census" means the school day immediately following the expiration of  
66 the twenty school days allowed for a student to withdraw from an SOEP course.

67           (10) "Disciplinary withdrawal" means that:

68           (a) a student was administratively withdrawn from an online course for  
69 disciplinary reasons; and

70           (b) the student, counselor, and parents were duly notified.

71           ([8]11) "Effective Date" means that, notwithstanding [Title 63G, Chapter 3](#), Utah  
72 Administrative Rulemaking Act, a delayed effective date that the Board is required to  
73 provide after the school year has ended for changes in administrative rule related to the  
74 Statewide Online Education Program, as described in Subsection [53F-4-514](#)(1).

75           ([9]12)(a) "Eligible student" means the same as the term is defined in Section  
76 [53F-4-501](#).

77           (b) A student up to the age of 19 in an adult education program may be an  
78 "eligible student" if the student re-enrolls in a public or private secondary school before  
79 the student's cohort's date of graduation.

80           (c) "Eligible student" does not include:

81           (i) a student receiving a scholarship under [Title 53F, Chapter 6, Part 4](#), Utah Fits  
82 All Scholarship Program[.];

83           (ii) a student attending a private school; or

84           (iii) a student participating in the Utah Private Course Choice Empowerment  
85 Program under Section [53F-5-501](#).

~~[(10) "Enrollment confirmation" means a provider's certification that a student initially registered and actively participated, as defined under Subsections (1) and (23)(b).]~~

(13)(a) "Enrollment notice" means a certification issued by the Superintendent indicating that a student:

(i) completed registration procedures;

(ii) was accepted to participate by a provider;

(iii) received actual or statutory approval from a primary LEA of enrollment.

(b) An "enrollment notice" enables a provider to initiate instruction based on:

(i) the primary LEA's acknowledgment of financial responsibility in the case of a public school student; or

(ii) the Superintendent's acknowledgment of financial responsibility in the case of a home school student.

[(14)]14) "Executed CCA" means a CCA that has been executed pursuant to Subsection [53F-4-508](#)(3) ~~[and received by]~~ causing the Superintendent to issue a notice of enrollment informing all participating parties.

[(12)]15) "Fee" means the same as the term is defined in Rule [R277-407](#).

[(13)]16) "High school" means the same as the term is defined in Section [53F-4-501](#).

[(14)]17) "LEA" includes, for purposes of this rule, the Utah Schools for the Deaf and the Blind.

(18)(a) "Learner validated enrollment measures" means measures approved for establishing attendance and participation in online coursework.

(b) "Learner validated enrollment measures" shall include:

(i) required periodic contact with a teacher of record through means applicable in an online environment, such as asynchronous discussion boards, emails, or scheduled synchronous meetings; and

(ii) one or more mandatory measures chosen by the provider from the following:

(A) a minimum frequency of student logins every five or ten days;

\_\_\_\_\_ (B) student work submitted within required timelines for the student to provide completed assignments, coursework, or to have made progress toward academic goals;

\_\_\_\_\_ (C) routinely completed student assignments demonstrating acceptable progress toward timely completion, or otherwise meeting established pacing guidelines; or

\_\_\_\_\_ (D) additional measures selected for display in a dashboard communicating student progress to a counselor.

\_\_\_\_\_ (19) "Loss of eligibility" means that a change in circumstances causes a student to lose program eligibility for reasons beyond the student's control, resulting in the student being administratively withdrawn from a course.

\_\_\_\_\_ ([15]20) "Middle school" means the same as the term is defined in Section [53F-4-501](#).

\_\_\_\_\_ ([16]21) "Online course" means the same as the term is defined in Section [53F-4-501](#) regardless of whether the student participates in the online course at home, at a school, at another location, or in any combination of these settings.

\_\_\_\_\_ ([17]22) "Online course payment" means the amount of funds withheld from a student's primary LEA and disbursed, or otherwise paid, to the designated provider following satisfaction of the requirements of the law, and as directed in Subsection [53F-4-507](#)(2) and Section [53F-4-518](#).

\_\_\_\_\_ (23) "Participation" means that a student continues to satisfy learner validated enrollment measures following confirmation.

\_\_\_\_\_ ([18]24) "Primary LEA of enrollment" means:

(a) the LEA reporting the student to be in regular membership, and special education membership, if applicable; and

(b) the LEA in which an eligible student is enrolled for courses other than online courses offered through the ~~[Statewide Online Education Program]~~ SOEP, if the student is enrolled in additional, non-SOEP courses.

\_\_\_\_\_ ([19]25) "Primary school of enrollment" means:

(a) a student's school of record within a primary LEA of enrollment;

(b) the school that maintains the student's cumulative file, enrollment information, individualized education program, and transcript for purposes of high school graduation;

(c) the school responsible for providing the student access to facilities, technology, internet, and other non-instructional amenities required by membership-related funding derived from the minimum school program, and other local, state, and federal funding streams; and

([e]d) the school responsible for oversight and implementation of the student's educational requirements under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act.

([20]26) "Resident school" means the district school within whose attendance boundaries the student's custodial parent or legal guardian resides.

([24]27) "School" means the same as the term is defined in Rule [R277-100](#).

([22]28) "Section 504" means Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. 794.

([23]29) "Standard of active participation" means:

(a) ~~[the]~~ established measures of student engagement selected from a menu of Board-approved learner validated enrollment measures used by an authorized online course provider to count a student in attendance and participation at least once every ten school days for a course consistent with Section [R277-419-5](#);

(b) a ~~[document]~~ written policy:

(i) articulating evidence [validating] of student participation contained in a learning management system and used by an authorized online course provider to qualify to receive payment as provided in Subsection [53F-4-505\(4\)](#)~~[-including determining when a student is actively participating in a course defined in Section 53F-4-504]; and~~

(ii) used to monitor program outcomes and program financial compliance in accordance with Rule [R277-114](#).

~~[(c) the measure of student engagement used to monitor program outcomes and program financial compliance in accordance with Rule R277-114.]~~

172           ([24]30) "Statewide Online Education Program" or "SOEP" or "program" means  
173 the Statewide Online Education Program created in Section [53F-4-502](#).

174           ([25]31) "Teacher of record" means the teacher who is ~~[assigned by a provider~~  
175 ~~and to whom students are assigned for purposes of reporting and data submissions to~~  
176 ~~the Superintendent]~~ contractually responsible for collecting student participation and  
177 success data in accordance with Section [R277-484](#)-3 and this rule.

178           ([26]32) "Underenrolled student" means a student with less than a full course  
179 load, as defined by the LEA, during the regular school day at the student's primary  
180 school of enrollment.

181           (33) "Unexcused absence" means an absence charged to a student when the  
182 student, without prior authorization, does not meet required participation criteria and  
183 fails to respond to out reach, resulting in administrative withdrawal from a course.

184           ([27]34) "USB E course code" means a code for a designated subject matter  
185 course assigned by the Superintendent.

186           ([28]35) "Withdrawal from online course" means that a student ~~[withdraws from~~  
187 ~~or ceases participation in]~~ requests to withdraw from an online course as follows:

188           (a) within 20 calendar days of the start date of the course, if the student enrolls  
189 on or before the start date;

190           (b) within 20 calendar days of enrolling in a course, if the student enrolls after  
191 the start date; or

192           ~~[(c) within 20 calendar days after the start date of the second 0.5 credit of a 1.0~~  
193 ~~credit course;~~

194           ~~—— (d) as the result of a student suspension from an online course following~~  
195 ~~adequately documented due process by the provider; or~~

196           ~~—— (e) as a result of the student losing program eligibility, including when the~~  
197 ~~student moves out of state.]~~

198           (c) within a prorated period of ten school days for a quarter-length course,  
199 without penalty, or at a subsequent point with a penalty attached.

**R277-726-3. Course Credit Acknowledgment (CCA) Process.**

(1) A student, a student's parent, a counselor, or a provider may initiate a CCA.

(2)(a) A counselor designated by a student's primary school of enrollment shall review the student's CCA to ensure consistency with:

(i) graduation requirements; ~~and~~

(ii) the student's plan for college and career readiness[-];

(iii) scheduling; and

(iv) requirements for course replacement.

(b) The primary school and LEA of enrollment and an online course provider shall respond to the CCA using forms and processes provided by the Superintendent within 24 business hours.

(3)(a) The primary school of enrollment is not required to meet with the student or parent for approval of a course request.

(b) The primary school of enrollment shall consider an online course request that duplicates a prior physical course request to constitute a simultaneous request to drop the prior physical course request in favor of the online course, without a requirement for additional procedures to drop the physical course to allow appropriate space for the online course in the student's schedule.

([b]4) The Superintendent shall notify a primary school of enrollment of a student's enrollment in the program, and the primary school of enrollment may work with a student to request that an online course be dropped within the times outlined for withdrawal from a course in Subsection R277-726-2(35).

([4]5) If an eligible student has an IEP or Section 504 plan, the eligible student's primary LEA shall provide or facilitate enrollment by:

(a) forwarding a copy of the relevant portions of the eligible student's existing IEP or Section 504 accommodation plan to the authorized online course provider in accordance with federal law and regulations;

(b) ensure the eligible student's IEP team and the authorized online course provider review a course enrollment for compliance with Subsection (1);

(c) coordinate additional IEP team reviews, as necessary, with the authorized online course provider to ensure appropriate services, supports and accommodations are in place for the eligible student; and

(d) ensure the authorized online course provider is included in an eligible student's IEP revision.

([5]6) Once a student's enrollment and active participation is confirmed, the Superintendent shall direct funds to the provider, consistent with Sections [53F-4-505](#) through [53F-4-507](#), and Section [53F-4-518](#).

#### **R277-726-4. Eligible Student and Parent Rights and Responsibilities.**

(1)(a) An eligible student may register for program credits consistent with Section [53F-4-503](#) and this rule.

(b) A student's selection of a course as described in Subsection (1)(a) is limited in relation to Health I and Health II without written approval from a counselor at the student's school of record transmitted to a provider prior to acceptance of a request for enrollment.

(2) An eligible student may exceed a full course load during a regular school year if:

(a) the student's plan for college and career readiness indicates that the student intends to complete high school graduation requirements and exit high school before the rest of the student's high school cohort, allowing a school to mark the student as an early graduate and increase membership days to claim additional funding in accordance with Section [R277-419-6](#); or

(b) the student's local school board or charter school governing board has a policy that allows students to enroll in additional courses without seeking additional funding.

~~[(3)(a) Only original credit may be funded through the program.]~~

~~———— (b) Competency-based award of credit without engagement in a course of digital, teacher-led instruction may not be funded under Statewide Online Education Program and Minimum School Program provisions.]~~

([4]3)(a) An eligible student is expected to complete courses in which the student enrolls in a timely manner consistent with Section [53F-4-505](#) and requirements for attendance and participation in accordance with Subsection R277-726-7(15) and Subsection R277-726-2(17).

(b) If a student changes the student's enrollment in the student's primary LEA or withdraws from an online course for any reason, it is the student's or student's parent's responsibility to notify the provider immediately.

([5]4) A student shall enroll in online courses, or declare an intention to enroll, during the school course registration period designated by the primary LEA of enrollment for regular course registration, provided the student's LEA notifies students of the opportunity to enroll in the program as described in Section [53F-4-513](#).

([6]5)(a) A student may alter a course schedule by dropping a traditional course and adding an online course in accordance with the primary school of enrollment's same established deadline for dropping and adding traditional courses.

(b) A student may enroll in a course outside of the primary school of enrollment's established deadline for dropping and adding traditional courses if the student is not seeking to alter a course schedule by dropping a traditional course and adding an online course but is instead seeking to add courses above full-time-enrollment consistent with an approved plan for early graduation.

([7]6)(a) Notwithstanding Subsection ([5]4), an underenrolled student may enroll in an online course at any time during a calendar year.

(b) If an underenrolled student enrolls in an online course as described in Subsection ([7]6)(a), the primary school of enrollment may immediately claim the student for the adjusted portion of enrollment by entering the course into the primary LEA's student information system and increasing membership, if necessary.

([8]7)(a) An authorized online course provider shall reasonably accommodate a request of a student's parent to visit and observe any class the student attends, including allowing appropriate access to digital systems of course delivery, as required in Section [53G-6-803](#).

(b) An authorized online course provider shall reasonably accommodate and record an excused absence at the request of a student's parent as an "approved absence" as described in Subsection [53G-6-803](#)(5) if:

(i) the parent submits a written statement at least one school day before the scheduled absence; and

(ii) the student agrees to make up coursework for school days missed for the scheduled absence in accordance with LEA policy.

**R277-726-5. LEA Requirements and Responsibilities.**

(1) A primary school of enrollment shall facilitate student enrollment with any eligible providers selected by an eligible student consistent with course credit limits.

(2) A student's course credit limits are up to six online credits per academic year unless:

(a) the primary school of enrollment agrees that more credits better suit the academic needs of the student in accordance with Section [53F-4-502](#); or

(b) the Superintendent approves a different number of credits acceptable to the student and the primary school of enrollment.

(3) The sum of SOEP and traditional LEA credits may not exceed full-time enrollment unless a plan for early graduation is reflected in the student's records.

([2]4) A primary school of enrollment and a provider LEA shall use the CCA application, records, and processes provided by the Superintendent for the program.

([3]5) In accordance with Subsection [53F-4-509](#)(5), if a student enrolled in a program course intends to graduate early and exceeds a full course load during a regular school year, a primary LEA of enrollment may mark the student as an early graduate and increase membership in accordance with Section [R277-419-6](#), Section

[R277-700](#)-6 and Rule [R277-484](#) to account for credits in excess of full-time enrollment in a local student information system.

(~~4~~6) A primary school or LEA of enrollment shall provide information about available online courses and programs:

(a) in registration materials;

(b) on the LEA's website; and

(c) on the school's website.

(7) A primary school or LEA of enrollment may not require a student to participate in onsite or in person courses to:

(a) remain enrolled in the LEA or school;

(b) access sports, facilities, or student honors; or

(c) meet special education service needs.

(~~5~~8) To facilitate enrollment as required by Section [53F-4-513](#), a primary school or LEA of enrollment shall provide the notice required under Subsection (4) concurrent with the high school course registration period designated by the LEA for the upcoming school year.

(~~6~~9) A primary school of enrollment:

(a) shall include a student's online courses in the student's schedule and enrollment records generally;

(b) may increase membership to account for SOEP credits; and

(c) upon course completion, shall include online course grades and credits on the student's transcripts, including high school coursework completed before grade 9 using course title and core codes.

(~~7~~10) A primary school of enrollment shall recognize credit earned toward high school graduation by a participating student through courses completed before grade 9 for purposes of high school graduation.

(~~8~~11) A primary school of enrollment shall determine fee waiver eligibility for participating public school students pursuant to Rule [R277-407](#).

([9]12)(a) If a participating student qualifies for a fee waiver, the student's primary LEA or school of enrollment shall provide the participating student access to an online course by:

(i) allowing a student access to necessary technology in a computer lab or other space within the school building during a school period or during the regular school day for the student to participate in an online course; or

(ii) providing a participating student technology and Wi-Fi needed for the student to participate outside of the school building.

(b) If a participating student who qualifies for a fee waiver is a home ~~[or private]~~ school student, the online course provider shall provide the participating home ~~[or private]~~ school student access to the online course.

([40]13) Where students access program courses using LEA-owned and managed devices, an LEA shall configure devices to participating students to form a separate user account or otherwise allow access to program provider materials using credentials supplied by a program provider.

([14]14)(a) [A] During the regular school day, a primary school of enrollment shall provide participating students access to facilities for the student to participate in an online course. ~~[during the regular school day,]~~

(b) A primary school of enrollment may not restrict a participating student from student leadership opportunities, sports, extracurricular and co-curricular activities, counseling, graduation, and other non-instructional services, honors, activities, and amenities offered to students generally [without consideration of] solely on the basis of the student's participation in SOEP courses or on the basis of relative levels of participation in traditional courses versus program courses.

([12]15)(a) A primary LEA of enrollment shall record course ~~[Course]~~ completions conferring high school credit ~~[shall be recorded]~~ in a student's record of credit and course completion for grade 9 to allow recognition toward grades 9-12, and high school graduation requirements.

(b) A primary LEA of enrollment accepting credit toward high school requirements is not required to independently verify:

- (i) early graduation status; or
- (ii) that high school courses taken through the program did not replace middle school courses for a student.

(~~[13]~~16) When a student satisfactorily completes an online semester or quarter course:

(a) for high school credit, in accordance with the LEA's procedures, a designated counselor or registrar at the primary school of enrollment shall forward records of grades and high school graduation credit, listing core codes for each completed course; or

(b) for a student participating in the program before grade 9, the student's grade 9 primary ~~[school]~~ LEA of enrollment shall record grades and credit per Subsection (~~[14]~~15) once the student completes grade 8.

#### **R277-726-6. Superintendent Requirements and Responsibilities.**

(1) The Superintendent shall provide a website for the program, including:

- (a) information required under Section [53F-4-512](#);
- (b) grade distributions for each course where course enrollment is large enough to allow disclosure;

- (c) completion rates for each course;
- (d) results of student and parent satisfaction surveys;
- (e) a standardized performance evaluation report card published annually assessing each provider, parallel to existing requirements of Section [53F-4-512](#); and

([e]f) other information as determined by the ~~[Board]~~ Superintendent.

(2) On or before January 31, 2026, the Superintendent shall create a centralized registration, which shares the following information from the primary LEA of enrollment's student information system with a selected provider:

- (a) student transcripts;

\_\_\_\_\_ (b) a student's current IEP or Section 504 accommodation plan; and  
\_\_\_\_\_ (c) and other information on necessary accommodations and services.

[(2]3) The Superintendent shall direct a provider to administer the Utah standards and high school assessments, as applicable, consistent with Section [53F-4-514](#) and Rule [R277-404](#).

[(3]4)(a) The Superintendent shall prepare and make available applications and program agreements for authorized online course providers.

(b) The Superintendent shall review each application within a reasonable amount of time and may invite prospective providers for interviews or further discussions of qualifications to clarify outstanding issues.

(c) An applicant receiving authorization by June 30 will begin service July 1 following the conclusion of the next academic year to allow for necessary preparation of fall or summer enrollment in the subsequent academic year.

[(4]5)(a) With the exception of the requirements of Subsection 53F-5-514(2), the Superintendent may determine space availability standards and appropriate course load standards for online courses consistent with Subsection [53F-4-512](#)(3)(g).

(b) Course load standards may differ based on subject matter.

[(5]6) Before approving a provider, consistent with Section [53F-4-504](#), the Superintendent shall:

(a) review Annual Financial Reports and state-administered test data to establish capacity of a program to serve an increased range of students while still meeting program requirements;

(b) disclose problematic findings to the applicant and as required, to the Board;  
and

[(b]c) verify that a prospective provider:

(i) has a student information system that is compatible with USIMS;

(ii) is a 501(c)(3) non-profit entity;

(iii) demonstrates data security and privacy compliance capacity, consistent with FERPA, through submission of a report selected by the Superintendent or developed by

the American International Society of Certified Public Accountants to evaluate data security controls and assess organization safeguards in place to protect sensitive data;

(iv) provides a description of the applicant's academic service experience offering general insight into the entity's:

(A) familiarity with education broadly;

(B) competency in instruction;

(C) academic philosophy; and

(v) meets other requirements identified by the Superintendent to establish the capacity of the provider to act as an LEA for purposes of program participation.

([6]7) The Superintendent may restrict a provider from offering coursework if the Superintendent determines that the provider demonstrates repeated low performance on statewide assessments in English Language Arts, math, or science.

([7]8) The Superintendent shall withhold funds from a primary LEA of enrollment and pay a provider consistent with Sections [53F-4-505](#) through [53F-4-507](#), and Section [53F-4-518](#).

([8]9) The Superintendent may refuse to provide funds under a CCA if the Superintendent finds that information has been submitted fraudulently or in violation of the law or Board rule by any of the parties to a CCA.

([9]10) The Superintendent shall receive and investigate complaints, and impose sanctions, if appropriate, regarding course integrity, financial mismanagement, enrollment fraud or inaccuracy, or violations of the law or this rule specific to the requirements and provisions of the program.

([10]11) If a Superintendent or federal entity's investigation finds that a provider has violated the IDEA or Section 504 provisions for a student taking online courses, the provider shall compensate the student's primary LEA of enrollment for costs related to compliance.

([11]12) The Superintendent may monitor an LEA's or program provider's compliance with any requirement of state or federal law or Board rule under the program.

457           ([12]13) The Superintendent may withhold funds from a program provider for the  
458 participant's failure to comply with a reasonable request for records or information.

459           ([13]14) Program records are available to the public subject to [Title 63G,](#)  
460 [Chapter 2](#), Government Records Access and Management Act.

461           ([14]15) The Superintendent shall withhold online course payment from a  
462 primary LEA of enrollment and payments to an eligible provider at the nearest monthly  
463 transfer of funds, subject to verification of information, in an amount consistent with, and  
464 when a provider qualifies to receive payment, under Subsections [53F-4-505\(4\)](#), [53F-4-](#)  
465 [507\(3\)\(b\)](#) and [53F-4-508\(2\)\(b\)](#).

466           ([15]16) The Superintendent shall pay a provider consistent with Minimum  
467 School Program funding transfer schedules.

468           ([16]17) Upon request from a primary LEA, the Superintendent shall provide an  
469 itemized report showing deductions described in Subsection [53F-4-508\(2\)](#), by student  
470 and course enrolled.

471           ([17]18)(a) The Superintendent may make decisions on questions or issues  
472 unresolved by [Title 53F, Chapter 4, Part 5](#), Statewide Online Program Act or this rule on  
473 a case-by-case basis.

474           (b) The Superintendent shall report decisions described in Subsection (15)(a) to  
475 the Board consistent with the purposes of the law and this rule.

476           ([18]19) In accordance with [Title 53E, Chapter 4](#), Academic Standards,  
477 Assessments, and Materials, the Superintendent shall establish criteria for an  
478 authorized online course provider to submit for approval an online course that does not  
479 have an existing Board course code.

480           ([19]20) The Superintendent may advise an eligible student regarding how an  
481 online course meets state graduation requirements.

482           ([20]21) The Superintendent shall direct an eligible student to a counselor at the  
483 student's school for advice regarding:

484           (a) whether an online course meets LEA or school-specific graduation  
485 requirements; and

(b) all other counseling services.

(~~[24]~~22) The Superintendent shall create a model cooperative agreement between a primary LEA and an authorized online course provider to be used when the primary LEA determines IEP services with costs are best provided by an authorized online course provider.

(~~[22]~~23) The Superintendent shall organize and conduct annual mandatory training for relevant staff at a primary LEA that address program requirements for a primary LEA, including:

(a) reporting requirements and methods;

(b) uses of resources and tools to ensure adequate monitoring of an eligible student's progress;

(c) federal and state requirements for accommodating enrollments that involve special education;

(d) appropriate circumstances and methodologies for reducing an eligible student's schedule; and

(e) other necessary components as determined by the Superintendent.

(~~[23]~~24) The Superintendent shall create a communication dashboard for the program that includes:

(a) a counselor contact list for an eligible student that is accessible to an authorized online course provider; and

(b) progress monitoring fields containing:

(i) grade progress reporting of an eligible student by an authorized online course provider;

(ii) flags for a student that is at risk of failing an online course; and

(iii) other information as determined by the Superintendent.

(24) The dashboard described in Subsection (23) shall be accessible to an eligible student's:

(a) primary LEA;

(b) school counselor;

(c) authorized online course provider; and

(d) parent.

**R277-726-7. Provider Requirements and Responsibilities.**

(1)(a) A provider shall administer the applicable statewide assessments to a participating private or home school student as directed by the Superintendent, including proctoring the applicable statewide assessments, consistent with Section [53F-4-510](#) and Rule [R277-404](#).

(b) A provider is responsible for administrative and proctoring costs and planning for the applicable statewide assessments described in Subsection (1)(a).

(2) A provider shall:

(a) establish a procedure that a student or parent may complete online to excuse the student from statewide assessments as described in Subsection [53G-6-803](#)(9); and

(b) record and maintain a choice to opt a student out of a statewide assessment in a manner prescribed by the Superintendent.

(3) A provider shall provide a parent or a student with email and telephone contacts for the provider during regular business hours to facilitate parent contact.

(4) A provider and any third party working with a provider shall, for all eligible students, satisfy Board requirements for:

(a) consistency with course standards as described in Sections [53F-4-514](#) and [53E-6-201](#);

(b) criminal background checks for provider employees consistent with [Title 53G, Chapter 11, Part 4](#), Background Checks;

(c) documentation of student enrollment and participation consistent with a standard of active participation on record with the Superintendent; and

(d) compliance with:

(i) the IDEA;

(ii) Section 504; and

(iii) requirements for multilingual students.

544 (5) A provider shall receive payments for a student properly enrolled in the  
545 program from the Superintendent consistent with:

546 (a) Board procedures;

547 (b) Board timelines; and

548 (c) Sections [53F-4-505](#) through [53F-4-508](#), Section [53F-4-518](#), and Board rule.

549 (6)(a) A provider may charge a fee consistent with other secondary schools and  
550 in accordance with [Title 53G, Chapter 7, Part 5](#), Student Fees, and Rule [R277-407](#).

551 (b) If a provider intends to charge a fee of any kind, the provider:

552 (i) shall notify the primary school of enrollment with whom the provider has the  
553 CCA of the purpose for fees and amounts of fees;

554 (ii) shall provide timely notice to a parent of required fees and fee waiver  
555 opportunities;

556 (iii) shall post fees on the provider website and disclose fees in course notes  
557 provided to the Superintendent as part of the provider's annual submission of course  
558 lists;

559 (iv) shall be responsible for fee waivers for an eligible student, including  
560 materials for a student designated fee waiver eligible by a student's primary school of  
561 enrollment;

562 (v) shall satisfy the requirements of Rule [R277-407](#), as applicable; and

563 (vi) shall provide fee waivers to home school [~~or private school~~] students who  
564 meet fee waiver eligibility at the provider's expense.

565 (7) A provider shall maintain a student's records and comply with the federal  
566 Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, [Title 53E, Chapter 9, Part 3](#), Student Data  
567 Protection, and Rule [R277-487](#), including:

568 (a) protecting the confidentiality of a student's records and providing a parent  
569 and an eligible student access to records; and

570 (b) providing a parent or student timely documentation of and access to  
571 evidence and records of educational performance, including:

572 (i) test scores;

(ii) grades;

(iii) progress and performance measures; and

(iv) completion of credit.

(8) Except as otherwise provided in this rule, a provider shall, using processes and applications provided by the Superintendent within five business days following the 20 school day statutory period allowed for student withdrawal:

(a) confirm that a student ~~[to be in active participation]~~ is participating in a course; or

(b) record a student's lack of confirmation.

(9) Following confirmation of a student's ~~[active]~~ participation, a provider shall:

(a) routinely update ~~[course records]~~ SOEP enrollment and tracking system records and local records stored in the provider's student information system to reflect continuing student participation as determined by student credit accruals and to maintain parity across data storage and reporting tools;

(b) submit a student's credit and grade to the Superintendent by enrolling the student, per UTREx specifications, in an appropriately marked course with a start date lying within the provider's school calendar, providing for each included course:

(i) the core code ~~[and short course description]~~ provided by the Superintendent, ~~[associated with the course in program enrollment applications]~~;

(ii) a local section code;

(iii) teacher of record information; and

~~(iv)~~ (iv) as necessary, the unique title a provider utilizes to identify a course to a designated counselor or registrar at the primary school of enrollment, and the student's parent; and

(c) complete the submissions required under Subsection (9)(b):

(i) 30 days after a student satisfactorily completes an online semester or quarter course; or

(ii) by June 30 annually.

(10) A provider shall provide an official transcript to a student's parent and school of record no later than June 30 for students in grades 6-11, and no later than May 1 for students in grade twelve.

(11) A provider may not withhold a student's credits, grades, or transcripts from the student, parent, or the student's school of enrollment for any reason.

(12)(a) If a provider suspends or expels a student from an online course for disciplinary reasons, the provider shall notify the student's primary LEA of enrollment by placing the student on disciplinary withdrawal.

(b) A provider is responsible for due process procedures for student disciplinary actions in the provider's online program.

(c)(i) A provider shall notify the ~~[Superintendent]~~ student, parent, and a counselor of the student's school of record of ~~[a student's]~~ the provider's intent to place the student on administrative withdrawal, if the student is inactive in a course for more than ten days~~[-using forms and processes developed by the Superintendent for this purpose]~~.

(ii) If a student, parent, or counselor fails to request reinstatement following notification under Subsection (c)(i), the provider shall formally withdraw the student within ~~[72 hours and]~~ five school days by changing the status of the course to administrative withdrawal, which process will automatically notify the student, parent, and primary LEA of the action.

(13) If a student entitled to services under the IDEA is removed from an online program, the primary LEA shall work with the student and the student's parents to identify alternatives to provide a free ~~[and]~~ appropriate public education.

(14)(a)(i) A provider shall provide to the Superintendent a list of course options using USBE-provided course codes.

(ii) If a course may reference mature subject-matter, a provider shall attach a disclaimer to the course description that states, "This course may not be suitable for students of all ages."

629           ~~[(b) Beginning with the 2024-25 school year, a provider may only code program~~  
630 ~~courses as semester or quarter courses.]~~

631           ([e]b) A provider shall update the provider's course offerings [annually] by March  
632 1.

633           ([14]15) A provider shall serve a student on a first-come-first-served basis who  
634 desires to take courses and who is designated eligible by a primary school of enrollment  
635 if desired courses have space available.

636           ([15]16) A provider shall maintain and provide records and systems as part of a  
637 public online school or program, including:

- 638           (a) financial and enrollment records;  
639           (b) information for accountability, program monitoring, and audit purposes; and  
640           (c) providing timely documentation of student participation, enrollment, educator  
641 credentials, and additional data for other purposes including giving a student's primary  
642 school of enrollment access to the student's records to appropriately support the  
643 student.

644           ([16]17) A provider shall maintain the following for at least five calendar years  
645 after the student graduates:

- 646           (a) test scores;  
647           (b) student grades;  
648           (c) completion of credit; and  
649           (d) other progress and performance measures.

650           ([17]18)(a) A provider is responsible for complete and timely submissions of  
651 record changes to executed CCAs and submission of other reports and records as  
652 required by the Superintendent.

653           (b) A provider shall update CCAs to the nearest credit value earned by June 30  
654 annually.

655           (c) A provider may only maintain an CCA open after June 30 if a student  
656 remains actively engaged in coursework, meeting the provider's standard of active  
657 participation.

658           ([18]19)(a) Before the inception of coursework, as a component of the provider's  
659 initial communication of provisions of the provider's standard of active participation, a  
660 provider shall inform a student and the student's parent of travel expectations to fulfill  
661 course requirements.

662           (b) Travel expectations to fulfill course requirements as described in Subsection  
663 (18)(a) include a requirement to participate in a proctored assessment or other  
664 proctored or assessment requirement outside a student's home, including travel to  
665 participate in statewide assessments at a secure testing site.

666           ([19]20)(a) An LEA may participate in the program as a provider by offering a  
667 school or program consistent with Rule [R277-115](#) to a Utah student in grades 6-12 who  
668 is not a resident student of the LEA and a regularly-enrolled student of the LEA  
669 consistent with Sections [53F-4-501](#) and [53F-4-503](#).

670           (b) An LEA program created in accordance with Subsection (20)(a) for serving  
671 students in grades 9-12 online must partner with an accredited school and shall:

- 672           (i) report grades and credit earned by a student to the Superintendent; and
- 673           (ii) record educator assignments consistent with Rule [R277-484](#).

674           ([20]21) A program school or program shall:

675           (a) be accredited consistent with Rule [R277-410](#);

676           (b) have a designated administrator who meets the requirements of Rule [R277-](#)  
677 [309](#);

678           (c) ensure that a student who qualifies for a fee waiver receives services offered  
679 by and through the public schools consistent with Section [53G-7-504](#) and Rule [R277-](#)  
680 [407](#);

681           (d) maintain student records consistent with:

682           (i) the federal Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. 1232g and  
683 34 CFR Part 99;

684           (ii) Rule [R277-487](#);

685           (iii) this rule; and

686           (e) shall offer course work:

- (i) aligned with Utah Core standards as described in Sections [53E-4-202](#), [53F-4-505](#), and [53F-4-514](#);
- (ii) in accordance with program requirements; and
- (iii) in accordance with Rules [R277-700](#) and [R277-404](#);
- (f) may not issue transcripts under the name of a third party provider; and
- (g) shall record teaching assignments by November 15 annually consistent with Rule [R277-484](#) and Section [R277-312](#)-3, either directly or through a partner school in accordance with Subsection (20)(b).
- ~~[(24)]~~22) An LEA that offers an online program or school as a provider under the program:
- (a) shall employ only educators licensed in Utah as teachers;
- (b) may not employ an individual whose educator license has been suspended or revoked;
- (c) shall require employees to meet requirements of [Title 53G, Chapter 11, Part 4](#), Background Checks, before the provider offering services to a student;
- (d) may only employ teachers who meet the requirements of Section [53E-6-201](#), Section [53F-4-504](#), and Rule [R277-309](#);
- (e) for a provider that provides an online course, including to a private or home school student, shall agree to administer and, before approval as an authorized online course provider, have the capacity to proctor and carry out the applicable statewide assessments, consistent with Sections [53E-4-302](#), [53F-2-103](#), and Rule [R277-404](#);
- (f) in accordance with Section [R277-726-8](#), shall provide services to a student consistent with requirements of the IDEA, Section 504, and Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 for multilingual students;
- (g) shall submit CCAs to the Superintendent before the provider initiating instruction of a student;
- (h) may not begin offering instruction to a student until the Superintendent issues a notice of enrollment, and the provider follows other enrollment procedures as

prescribed by the Superintendent for the student, and for each course the student participates in; and

(i) shall agree that funds may be withheld by the Superintendent consistent with Sections [53F-4-505](#), [53F-4-506](#), [53F-4-508](#), and [53F-4-518](#).

(~~22~~23) A provider shall post required information online on the provider's individual website including required assessment and accountability information.

(~~23~~24) A provider contracting with a third party to provide educational services to students participating with the provider through the Statewide Online Education Program shall develop a written monitoring plan to supervise the activities and services provided by the third party provider to ensure:

(a) a third party provider is complying with:

(i) federal law;

(ii) state law; and

(iii) Board rules;

(b) curriculum provided by a third party provider is aligned with the Board's core standards and rules;

(c) a third party provider has access to curriculum for alignment and adjustment to ensure the curriculum is consistent with the Utah core standards in Rule [R277-700](#) and a Board approved core code;

(d) supervision of third party facilitation by an educator licensed in Utah:

(i) assigned by the provider; and

(ii) reported as teacher of record per Section [R277-484](#)-3 and Subsection R277-726-2(3); and

(e) consistent with the LEA's administrative records retention schedule, maintenance of documentation of the LEA's supervisory activities.

(~~24~~25) A provider shall offer courses consistent with standards outlined in an applicable Statewide Services Agreement, which may be updated or amended to reflect changes in law, rule, or recommended practice.

(~~[25]~~26) All authorized online course providers are subject to the same approval and annual performance review as described for a certified online course provider in Section R277-726-11 while utilizing the applicable applications for an authorized online course provider described in Subsections R277-726-3(1)(a) and (b).

(~~[26]~~27) A provider utilizing a third party shall establish contractual and procedural safeguards:

(a) retaining legal and procedural authority to open coursework to a participating student only upon issuance of a notice of enrollment regarding a particular course and credit; and

(b) signifying the provider's authority to interact instructionally with a student not regularly-enrolled in an LEA, but participating in SOEP courses with approval of the student's primary LEA of enrollment~~[-and]~~

~~[(c) including acceptance of financial responsibility by a primary LEA of enrollment].~~

(~~[27]~~28) A provider is not required to independently verify:

(a) early graduation status; or

(b) that high school courses taken through the Statewide Online Education Program did not replace Middle School courses.

(~~[28]~~29)(a) A provider shall adhere to requirements to remain certified and in good standing within the program, including:

(b) before providing services to students, ensuring that 100% of all educators assigned as teacher of record for all course sections shall be appropriately licensed, endorsed and aligned with core code describing course assignment; ~~[and]~~

(c) complying with requirements applicable to an authorized online course provider described in this Rule R277-726, including the requirement to maintain a course completion rate of at least 80% based on the provider's year-end UTREx submission[-];

(d) maintaining parity, consisting of no more than 5% discrepancy at all points in the school year, among data storage and reporting systems and tools, including the

SOEP's Student Enrollment and Tracking System or a relevant alternative, a local student information system, and UTREx; and

(e) complying with timelines specified in law and rule regarding course acceptance, updating of data systems, and transcript submissions to parents and a primary school of enrollment.

([29]30) If the Superintendent finds that an authorized online course provider is out of compliance with Subsection ([28]29), the Superintendent shall provide the provider with a list of violations and a reasonable timeline for provider to cure the non-compliance.

([30]31) If an authorized online course provider fails to correct a violation identified under Subsection ([29]30) within the time provided, the Superintendent may remove the provider from participation in the program.

(32)(a) A provider may only offer a course designed for original credit through the program.

(b) A provider may not offer competency-based awards of credit without a student engaging in a course of digital, teacher-led instruction under the program.

(33) A provider may not grade a student on a pass/fail basis for an SOEP course.

#### **R277-726-8. Services to Students with Disabilities and other Unique Learning Needs Participating in the Program.**

(1)(a) If a student wishes to receive services under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the student shall make a request with either the student's primary school of enrollment or a provider.

(b) Responsibility for ensuring a request is evaluated in accordance with federal law, Utah Code, and Board Rule resides with a primary school of enrollment.

(c) If a student's request for services is initially directed to a provider, the provider shall immediately contact the 504 coordinator of the student's primary school of enrollment.

(d) Under the direction of the primary school of enrollment where feasible, the student's primary school of enrollment and the provider shall jointly evaluate a student's request under Subsection (1)(a) and determine if the student is eligible for related aids, accommodations, and services under Section 504.

(e) The provider shall implement the Section 504 plan in accordance with Subsection (1)(d).

(2) If a student's request for services is initially directed to a provider and a good faith effort at cooperation with the student's primary school of enrollment is unsuccessful, the provider may determine student eligibility and provide services.

(3) If a student with an existing Section 504 plan for related aids, accommodations, or services newly enrolls in online courses or requests amendments related to an existing plan for related aids, accommodations, and services:

(a) the primary school of enrollment and the provider shall jointly prepare a Section 504 plan in accordance with Subsection (4); and

(b) the provider shall implement the Section 504 plan and provide related aids, accommodations, and services to the student in accordance with the student's Section 504 plan.

(4) To prepare or amend a 504 plan for related aids, accommodations, and services under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, the committee evaluating the student shall:

(a) be drawn jointly from the student's primary school of enrollment and the provider; and

(b) include persons knowledgeable about the student, the meaning of the evaluation data, and placement options available in a virtual environment.

(5) If a home ~~[or private]~~ school student requests services under Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, a provider may determine student eligibility, prepare a 504 plan for the home ~~[or private]~~ school student's online program, and provide related aids, accommodations, and services.

(6) For a student enrolled in a primary LEA of enrollment, if a student participating in the program qualifies to receive services under the IDEA:

(a) the student's primary LEA of enrollment shall:

(i) forward a copy of an existing IEP or relevant sections to a provider;  
(ii) working with a provider LEA representative, review and determine implementation of an IEP for the student within a timeline consistent with IDEA requirements;

(iii) working with a provider LEA representative, review and revise, as the IEP determines appropriate an existing IEP with necessary accommodations and services, considering the courses selected by the student;

(iv) collaborate with an online provider to develop digital options for service delivery if the student selects an online environment;

~~(iv)~~v) provide the IEP described in Subsection (6)(a)(i) to the provider within 24 business hours of completion of the student's IEP or within a timeline consistent with IDEA requirements; and

~~(v)~~vi) continue to claim the student in the primary LEA of enrollment's membership; and

(b) the provider shall provide special education services and accommodations to the student in accordance with the student's IEP.

(7) If a home ~~or private~~ school student requests an evaluation for eligibility to receive special education services:

(a) the home ~~or private~~ school student's resident school shall:

(i) evaluate the student's eligibility for services under the IDEA;  
(ii) if eligible, the student may enroll in the LEA that will prepare an IEP for the student, with input from the provider LEA, in accordance with the timelines required by the IDEA;

(iii) provide the IEP described in Subsection (7)(a)(ii) to the provider within 72 business hours of completion of the student's IEP; and

(b) the provider shall provide special education services and accommodations to the student in accordance with the student's IEP described in Subsection (7)(a)(i) including in cases where the provider utilizes a third party provider for delivery of educational or other services.

(8)(a) A provider shall implement a Section 504 plan for an eligible student as directed by the primary LEA or school of enrollment.

(b) If a student with an existing Section 504 plan newly enrolls in online courses or requests amendments to an existing plan, the primary school of enrollment and the provider, working jointly, shall prepare a revised Section 504 plan, as appropriate.

(c) If the student's request for services is initially directed to a provider and a good faith effort at cooperation with the student's primary school of enrollment is unsuccessful, the provider may determine student eligibility and provide services.

(d) When preparing or amending a Section 504 plan, the evaluation committee shall include individuals from the student's primary school of enrollment and the provider, including persons knowledgeable about the student, the meaning of the evaluation data, and placement options available in a virtual environment.

(9)(a) A provider shall administer a home language survey upon initial student registration.

(b) If a provider suspects that a student qualifies for alternative language services or other Title III services, a provider shall contact the Title III Coordinator at the student's primary LEA or primary school of enrollment.

(c) A provider shall implement an individual learning plan as directed by the primary LEA or primary school of enrollment for a student who is eligible for alternative language services of Title II services.

(10) For a student needing alternative language services, who is multilingual, an immigrant, or a refugee:

(a) the provider and the primary LEA or primary school of enrollment shall develop an individual learning plan in cooperation with persons knowledgeable about the student, the meaning of the evaluation data, and the placement options available for

the student in a virtual environment, which outline a student's current level of ability, and identifies specific goals for future attainment, progress, and exit criteria ;

(b) the primary LEA or primary school of enrollment shall identify the need for alternative language services through administration of a home language survey and WIDA testing; and

(c) the primary LEA or primary school of enrollment shall administer a language instruction Educational Program in which a student learning English is placed for developing and attaining English proficiency, while meeting state standards.

**R277-726-9. Limited Appropriations for Special Populations.**

(1) The Superintendent shall allocate ~~[the annual appropriation for home and private school tuition, along with]~~ any carryover or unobligated funds directed to students attending small schools, and an appropriation provided for students attending small schools, as described in this section.

(2) The Superintendent shall distribute funds appropriated to the Statewide Online Education Program to support students from small high schools, and home schools, ~~[or private schools]~~ based on the needs of the eligible students, in addition to the demonstrated inability of eligible schools to provide depth and range in:

(a) Career and Technical Education Pathways;

(b) Advanced Placement and other advance coursework;

(c) foundation, applied and advanced courses enabling students to move forward in technology-intensive paths requiring an educator with advanced license or endorsement areas; and

(d) established facilities and programs.

~~[(3)(a) Subject to legislative appropriations available for this purpose, for each public high school with a student population of less than 1,000 students, the Superintendent shall incentivize program use by small schools by prioritizing small schools to the extent of funding available for this purpose.~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_ (b) The Superintendent shall carry forward unallocated funds to meet the needs of eligible students.~~

~~\_\_\_\_\_ (4) The Superintendent shall determine student and LEA eligibility using prior-year UTREx end of year data.]~~

(3) The Superintendent shall prioritize funding distributions to small schools and adjust funding annually based on an annual assessment of demonstrated inability to provide needed courses due to:

\_\_\_\_\_ (a) insufficient student enrollment to justify full course selections;

\_\_\_\_\_ (b) geographic isolation from qualified instructors;

\_\_\_\_\_ (c) limited staff capacity to teach courses;

\_\_\_\_\_ (d) financial constraints in hiring qualified educators; or

\_\_\_\_\_ (e) other similar factors limiting a school's ability to meet student needs in areas specified in this section.

\_\_\_\_\_ (4) The Superintendent will prioritize funding to eligible schools using the following funding tiers:

\_\_\_\_\_ (a) A Tier One school is identified by the following characteristics:

\_\_\_\_\_ (i) the school is in Title I status;

\_\_\_\_\_ (ii) the school has average daily membership that does not exceed 600;

\_\_\_\_\_ (iii) one-way bus travel for any student, grades 7-12, from the assigned school to the nearest school of the same type within the same district takes at least one hour and 15 minutes; and

\_\_\_\_\_ (iv) the school is part of a school district that has a student population density of less than one student enrolled per square mile and the school is located more than 25 miles by road from a city or town with a population of at least 2,000 people.

\_\_\_\_\_ (b) A Tier Two school is identified by the following characteristics:

\_\_\_\_\_ (i) the school is physical rather than virtual;

\_\_\_\_\_ (ii) the school's October 1 enrollment count from the previous school year does not exceed 500 students;

\_\_\_\_\_ (iii) assessed valuations of the school district in which the school is located are below the state-wide median;

\_\_\_\_\_ (iv) the school is identified as a Necessarily Existent Small School, but is not a Title I school;

\_\_\_\_\_ (v) the school has average daily membership that does not exceed 600;

\_\_\_\_\_ (vi) one-way bus travel for any student, grades 7-12, from the assigned school to the nearest school of the same type within the same district takes at least one hour and 15 minutes; and

\_\_\_\_\_ (vii) the school is part of a school district that has a student population density of less than one student enrolled per square mile and the school is located more than 25 miles by road from a city or town with a population of at least 2,000 people.

\_\_\_\_\_ (c) A Tier Three school is identified by the following characteristics:

\_\_\_\_\_ (i) the school is physical rather than virtual;

\_\_\_\_\_ (ii) the school's October 1 enrollment count from the previous school year does not exceed 500 students;

\_\_\_\_\_ (iii) the school is located in a school district in which district does not pay local property tax proceeds into the Uniform School Fund established in Section [53F-2-301.5](#);

\_\_\_\_\_ (iv) assessed valuations of the school district in which the school is located are no more than 1 standard deviation above the state-wide median;

\_\_\_\_\_ (v) the school is identified as a Necessarily Existent Small School or the district in which the school is located has one or more schools identified as Necessarily Existent Small Schools.

\_\_\_\_\_ (vi) the school is part of a school district that has a student population density of less than one student enrolled per square mile and the school is located more than 25 miles by road from a city or town with a population of at least 2,000 people.

\_\_\_\_\_ (d) A Tier Four School is identified by the following characteristics:

\_\_\_\_\_ (i) the school is physical rather than virtual;

(ii) the school is located in a school district in which district does not pay local property tax proceeds into the Uniform School Fund established in Section [53F-2-301.5](#); and

(iii) the school is part of a school district that has a student population density of less than one student enrolled per square mile and the school is located more than 25 miles by road from a city or town with a population of at least 2,000 people; or

(iv) the school is the Utah Schools for the Deaf and the Blind.

(e) A Tier Five School is identified by the following characteristics:

(i) the school is physical rather than virtual; and

(ii) the school is located in a school district which does not pay local property tax proceeds into the Uniform School Fund established in Section [53F-2-301.5](#).

(f) Other eligible schools are classified as Tier Six.

(5) Subject to legislative appropriations:

(a) Schools designated as Tiers One, Two and Three may receive small school funds as a course fee is deducted, with additional amounts reserved for obligations incurred at later points in a single school year.

(b)(i) Schools designated as Tiers Four, Five, and Six, may receive small school funds after all obligations to schools with a higher order of priority are satisfied.

(ii) The Superintendent shall determine funding for lower tiered schools by April 1.

(6)(a) Subject to legislative appropriations, for each public high school with a student population of less than 1,000 students and at least one student enrolled in grades 9-12, the Superintendent shall incentivize small school program use by prioritizing small schools to the extent of funding available for this purpose.

(b) The Superintendent shall carry forward unallocated funds to meet the needs of eligible students.

(7) The Superintendent shall determine student and LEA eligibility using prior year UTREx end of year data.

**R277-726-10. Other Information.**

(1) A primary school of enrollment shall communicate with a provider, where necessary, to set reasonable timelines and standards and shall inform providers of timelines necessary for reporting grades and credit for graduating seniors.

(2) A provider shall adhere to timelines and standards described in Subsection (1) for student grades and enrollment in online courses for purposes of:

(a) school awards and honors;

(b) Utah High School Activities Association participation; and

(c) high school graduation.

(3) If a student is at risk of academic failure or at risk of not graduating with the student's graduation cohort, a provider shall utilize automated notices or other means to:

(a) inform counselors at the student's primary school of enrollment that student is at risk of academic or other failure; and

(b) before quarter 4 of a student's senior school year, inform counselors at the student's primary school of enrollment that the senior student is at risk of failure.

**R277-726-11. Certified and Authorized Online Course Provider Application Approval, Program Requirements, and Fees.**

(1) An entity other than an authorized online course provider may become a certified online course provider if the entity ~~submits an application~~ applies on a form provided by the Superintendent.

(2) An entity shall submit an application on or before the annual deadline established by the Superintendent.

(3) The Superintendent shall review each application within a reasonable amount of time and may invite prospective providers for interviews or further discussion of qualifications to clarify outstanding issues.

(4) If the Superintendent finds the application submitted is satisfactory, including a demonstration of the entity's ability to adhere to requirements within the application,

1026 this rule, and state law, the Superintendent shall forward the application to the Board for  
1027 final approval.

1028 (5) Once approved by the Board, an entity shall become a certified online course  
1029 provider.

1030 (6) A certified online course provider shall adhere to the following requirements  
1031 to remain certified and in good standing within the program, including:

1032 (a) complying with a process within existing state systems to provide the  
1033 Superintendent with the provider's educator's licensing, endorsement, certification, and  
1034 assignment information;

1035 (b) if the provider's educator is teaching an online course for the provider, the  
1036 educator's online course assignments shall be listed in CACTUS or USIMS under an  
1037 employing school;

1038 (c) if an authorized online course provider that is not a certified online course  
1039 provider forwards an educator to the Board for a provider-specific license as described  
1040 in Sections [53F-4-514](#) and [53E-6-201](#), the educator's employment and online course  
1041 assignments shall be listed in CACTUS or USIMS;

1042 (d) before providing services to students, 100% of the provider's educators  
1043 assigned as teacher of record for all course sections shall be appropriately licensed and  
1044 endorsed for any course assignment as required in Rule R277-309;

1045 (e) requirements applicable to an online course provider described in this rule,  
1046 including the requirement to maintain a course completion rate of at least 80%;

1047 (f) additional requirements prescribed in the application; and

1048 (g) state laws applicable to an online course provider, including Sections [53F-4-](#)  
1049 [501](#) et. seq. and Sections [53F-4-504](#) and [53F-4-514](#).

1050 (7) If the Superintendent finds the certified online course provider is not in  
1051 compliance with any requirement as outlined in Subsection (6) the Superintendent shall  
1052 provide the certified online course provider with a list of non-compliance issues and a  
1053 reasonable timeline for the certified online course provider to cure the instances of non-  
1054 compliance.

(8) If a certified online course provider fails to correct instances of non-compliance within the allotted timeline as described in Section [53F-4-504](#), the certified online course provider shall be removed from the program.

(9) A certified online course provider that has been removed from the program may apply in the application round following removal from the program for re-admission to the program using an application provided by the Superintendent.

(10) A certified online course provider shall remit fees to the Superintendent for participation in the program as follows:

(a) 5% of revenue collected for the first \$200,000 received pursuant to Section [53F-4-505](#); and

(b) 1% of revenue collected after the first \$200,000 received pursuant to Sections [53F-4-505](#) and [53F-4-514](#).

**R277-726-12. Online Concurrent Enrollment.**

For a student enrolled in a concurrent enrollment course through an SOEP provider, to the extent there is a conflict between this rule and [Title 53F, Chapter 4, Part 5](#), Statewide Online Education Program, and [Title 53E, Chapter 10, Part 3](#), Concurrent Enrollment, the concurrent enrollment code provisions shall govern.

**KEY: statewide online education program**

**Date of Last Change: August 7, 2024**

**Notice of Continuation: January 13, 2022**

**Authorizing, and Implemented or Interpreted Law: [Art X Sec 3](#); [53F-4-510](#); 53F-4-514; 53E-3-401**